THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 08 2021

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001735
Case No. 2017-CP-23-02918

Frontage Road Associates, Inc., also known as
Frontage Road, Inc.,.....Respondent,

v.

Elephant, Inc. and Gregory Gaines also known as
Kenwood Gaines..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Robert L. Widener
Paul D. Harrill
BURR & FORMAN, LLP
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Respondent waived its right to a jury trial by failing to comply with the plain and express requirements of Rule 38, SCRPC.
2. Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the Appellants' motion to transfer the case to the non-jury roster.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a commercial lease case. The Respondent (Owner) leased its commercial property to the Appellants (Tenant). Owner sued Tenant for failure to make lease payments. (R. 4-6.). Tenant answered and *inter alia* denied the failure to pay allegation. (R. 7-11).

Owner did not demand a jury trial as required by Rule 38, SCRCPP. The case was mistakenly placed on the jury roster. Tenant filed a motion to transfer the case to the non-jury docket, because Owner had waived its right to a jury trial under Rule 38, SCRCPP. (Motion to Transfer; Tr. 4-6). The trial court denied the motion. (R. 1-3). Tenant timely appealed.

INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND FACTS

Owner commenced this action by electronic filing under South Carolina's E-Filing System. The issues in this case involve the application of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCPP) and the Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines (cited as § ____, SCEF).¹

This is a breach of contract action, and the plaintiff-Owner seeks an award of monetary damages. (R. 6). Therefore, this is an action at law, and both parties had a right to a jury trial. *Airfare, Inc. v. Greenville Airport Comm'n*, 153 S.E.2d 846, 848 (S.C. 1967) (breach of commercial lease). Under the undisputed facts of this case, the law required Owner to do one of two things if it wanted a jury trial: (1) make a written demand in its complaint, which is the most common method; or (2) timely serve and file a written demand for a jury trial after the commencement of the action. See generally Rule 38(b), SCRCPP. It is undisputed that Owner never demanded a jury trial as required by Rule 38(b), SCRCPP. Therefore, Owner waived its right to a jury trial by operation of law. Rule 38(d), SCRCPP (“The *failure* of a party *to serve*

¹ See South Carolina Electronic Filing Policy and Guideline 11(b), stating: “These Policies and Guidelines may be cited as follows: Section ____, SCEF.”

a demand as required by this rule *and to file* it as required by Rule 5(d) *constitutes a waiver* by him of trial by jury.”) (All emphasis added).²

Rule 39(a), SCRCF provides: “*When* trial by jury has been demanded *as provided in Rule 38*, the action *shall be designated* upon the calendar and the clerk’s filebook as a jury action.”) (Emphasis added). Here, it is undisputed that Owner did not demand a jury trial “as provided in Rule 38” and, therefore, the case should not have been placed on the jury roster.³

It appears the county clerk of court relied on the “data entry screen” used by Owner to E-File its summons and complaint under the SCEF, which includes a section for the E-Filer to denote the case as jury or non-jury. (R. 21). However, the E-Filing System does not serve the data entry screen or the papers that initiate a lawsuit, *e.g.*, summons and complaint. See §§ 4(e)(1) and 4(e)(2)(A), SCEF. Here, Owner personally served the summons and complaint as required by § 4(e)(1), SCEF and Rule 4, SCRCF, but it did not serve the “data entry screen” used to commence this action. (R. 14, 15). In short, Owner never served and never filed any jury demand as required by Rule 38, SCRCF, and therefore, the circuit court erred in denying Tenant’s motion to transfer the case to the non-jury roster.

² Under the SCRCF, if a party does not demand a jury trial in its pleadings (*e.g.*, complaint) but desires a jury trial, it must serve a written demand on the other parties and thereafter file the written demand with the court. See Rules 38(b), (d) and 5(a), (d), SCRCF. Under the SCEF, that party would e-file the written demand with the court, and the E-Filing System would thereafter serve it by email with an NEF (Notice of Electronic Filing). See § 4(e)(2), (e)(3), (e)(6) SCEF. **Note:** Service by NEF is limited to parties that have appeared in the action at the time of the filing by counsel who is an “Authorized E-Filer.” § 4(e)(2), SCEF. Absent such an appearance, the e-filer must serve the filing by “Traditional Service,” *i.e.*, the service methods prescribed by the SCRCF. See, *e.g.*, §§ 1(a), 1(m), 1(o), and 2(b), SCEF.

³ See *South Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 800 S.E.2d 488, 490-491 (S.C. App. 2017) (clerk did not have authority to refer foreclosure action to master for final judgment, because defendant had previously filed answer and counterclaim that included a valid demand for jury trial under Rule 38(b); clerk therefore violated Rule 39(a) by not placing the case on the jury trial docket; and master therefore erred in denying motion to transfer case to the jury docket.); Rule 40(a)(2), SCRCF (“subject to Rule 38(b),” the clerk “shall file” the case as nonjury unless caption includes jury demand or clerk informed of proper jury demand).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court found that Owner failed to demand a jury trial but nevertheless denied Tenant's motion to transfer the case to the non-jury roster. (R. 1).⁴ As shown below, the undisputed and controlling facts demonstrate that Owner waived its right to a jury trial by operation of Rule 38, SCRCP. Therefore, the circuit court abused its discretion in refusing to transfer the case to the non-jury roster.

I. The undisputed facts in this case demonstrate that Owner waived its right to a jury trial under the express and controlling provisions of Rule 38, SCRCP.

A. Standard of Review

The application of the law to undisputed facts presents a question of law for the court, which the appellate court reviews *de novo* with no deference to the circuit court's decision. *Crossman Cmty. of N.C. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 717 S.E.2d 589, 592 (S.C. 2011).

B. Owner waived its right to a jury trial.

Rule 38(d) provides that “[t]he *failure* of a party to *serve* a demand as required by this rule *and to file it* as required by Rule 5(d) *constitutes a waiver* by him of trial by jury.” (All emphasis added). Here, it is undisputed that Owner failed to do so. Thus, by operation of Rule 38, Owner waived its right to a jury trial on July 17, 2017.⁵

⁴ The order provides in full: “This matter came before the Court on Defendant's Motion to move this matter to the Non-Jury docket. Defendant argues that Plaintiff failed provide notice of its demand for a jury trial pursuant to the SCRCP. Plaintiff, contends, and the file reflects, that he did specifically file this case as a "Jury Trial" in the electronic filing system. The case has been indexed as such since that time. Although a written notice was never served on the Defendant, the record reflects that Defendant is not caught unaware of the pendency of this case as a jury trial and is, thus, not prejudiced by a technical deficiency. The motion is, therefore, respectfully denied.” (R. 1).

⁵ The last day for demanding a jury trial is “not later than 10 days after the service of the last pleading directed to such issue.” Rule 38(b), SCRCP. Here, the “last pleading” was Tenants’ Answer, which was e-filed on July 7, 2017 (Answ at R. 7) and automatically served on Owner the same day, making July 17 the last day for making a jury trial demand.

II. The circuit court erred in refusing to transfer the case to the non-jury roster.

A. Standard of Review

The question of whether to hold a jury trial when a party has failed to demand it resides in the discretion of the trial court. Rule 39(b), SCRCP. The circuit court abuses its discretion when its order is controlled by an error of law or its factual findings are without evidentiary support. *Curry v. Carolina Ins. Group of S.C., Inc.*, 832 S.E.2d 760, 768 (S.C. App. 2019).

B. The circuit court erred in denying the motion to transfer.

The circuit court correctly noted that Owner e-filed this action as a jury case on the data entry sheet, and the case was indexed as a jury trial, but these facts are not relevant. The undisputed and controlling fact is that Owner did not demand a jury trial as required by Rule 38(b), SCRCP. Owner's failure to comply with Rule 38 is not a "technical deficiency." Rather, Owner waived its right to a jury trial by operation of the plain and express terms of Rule 38(d), SCRCP. Accordingly, the appealed order was controlled by an error of law. Therefore, the circuit court erred in denying the motion to transfer this case to the non-jury docket, where it should have been from the outset of the case. *South Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 800 S.E.2d 488 (S.C. App. 2017).⁶

⁶ *Salon Proz* was a foreclosure action. The defendant validly demanded a jury trial in his answer under Rule 38, SCRCP. 800 S.E.2d at 489-490. The clerk of court signed an order of reference upon the plaintiff's motion under Rule 53, SCRCP. *Id.* The defendant moved to transfer the case to the jury docket, and the master denied the motion. *Id.* at 490. The defendant appealed, and this Court reversed under the following analysis: (1) the facts are undisputed; (2) Rules 38, 39, and 53, SCRCP are controlling; (3) because the defendant validly demanded a jury trial in the answer, the clerk of court did not have the authority to refer the case to the master; and (4) therefore, the master erred in denying the motion to transfer the case to the jury roster. *Id.* at 490-491. Here, as in *Salon Proz*, the facts are undisputed, Rules 38 and 39, SCRCP are controlling, and the motion to transfer should have been granted under an application of the plain and express provisions of Rules 38 and 39 to the undisputed facts of this case. This court also noted the general rule that the waiver of a jury trial is "strictly construed and not lightly inferred or extended by implication." *Id.* at 491. The undisputed facts of this case satisfy this strict test, because Owner waived the right to a jury trial under the plain and express provisions of Rules 38, SCRCP. Nothing in Rule 38 needs to be "construed," strictly or otherwise, and there is no need to infer anything or extend anything by implication. Rule 38 plainly and expressly states that Owner waived the right a jury trial under the undisputed facts of this case.