STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**RECEIVED**  
**Aug 10 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-001735  
CASE NO.: 2017-CP-23-02918

Frontage Road Associates, Inc., also known as  
Frontage Road, Inc.,.....Respondent

vs.

Elephant, Inc. and Gregory Gaines also known as  
Ken Wood, .....Appellant

---

---

**RESPONDENT'S  
FINAL BRIEF**

---

---

O. W. Bannister (S.C. Bar No. 00506)  
BANNISTER, WYATT & STALVEY, LLC  
P.O. Box 10007  
Greenville, SC 29603  
Ph: 864-298-0084; Fax: 864-298-0146  
*Attorney for Respondent*

August 10, 2020

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to transfer the method of trial by jury as indicated on the E-Filing System information sheet to the non-jury trial roster because Rule 40(b), S.C.R.C.P. provides the court with the discretion to order a trial by jury even if not initially demanded.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Respondent leased its building to the Appellants who violated the lease agreement. Respondent sued the Appellants and designated on the E-Filing System required information sheet that the suit was to be on the jury roster. The pleadings themselves did not indicate the demand for a jury trial under Rule 38, S.C.R.C.P. The Appellants moved to transfer the trial to the non-jury roster which the lower court denied. This appeal followed.

## **ARGUMENT**

In response to Appellant's Initial Brief, Respondent submits the following arguments to request denial of Appellant's requested relief. Appellant seeks to use misinterpreted facets of South Carolina Statutory law in order to deny Respondent his constitutionally protected right to a jury trial by mis-portraying facts of the case and ignore clearly cited laws of South Carolina. In response, Respondent will present three arguments to refute this conjecture. First, Rule 39 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure supports the prior holding. Second, Appellant was willfully blind and was aware from the beginning of this matter that Respondent sought a Jury Trial. Third, South Carolina case law provides clear support in favor of Respondents position and the need to support the lower court's ruling. As such, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the prior holding.

## **I. Rule 39 Supports the Holding**

Rule 39 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides for when the Court may order a trial by jury. “notwithstanding the failure of a party to demand a jury in an action in which such a demand might have been made of right, the court in its discretion upon motion may order a trial by jury of any or all issues.” Rule 39(b), SCRCF. Appellant alleges that Respondent waived its right to a jury trial for failing to serve a demand upon Appellant and to properly file the demand. Respondent will contend that it failed to properly serve notice of the demand to Appellant; however, this does not amount to waiver or preclude Respondent from having the opportunity for a jury trial.

First, as required by Rule 39 and admitted by Appellant, Respondent utilized the E-filing system to file its summons and complaint under the SCEF. Within that section, there exists a portion for the E-filer to denote the case as jury or non-jury. Respondent denoted the case as a jury case, which is why the county clerk of court treated the aforementioned case as one seeking a jury trial. As such, Respondent did in fact demand a jury trial. The issue is that Appellant would attempt to use a procedural technicality in order to argue waiver has occurred. Regardless, this issue has become immaterial. As stated in Rule 39, “notwithstanding the failure of a party to demand a jury in an action” is the requirement for the Court to exercise its discretion. Had Respondent failed to make any such demand, then Rule 39(b) may have become inapplicable; however, the rule makes no reference to inadequacy of service. Wherefore, it became the Court’s discretion whether to grant the jury trial, and the Court did in fact grant said jury trial.

## **II. Appellant Acted with Willful Blindness.**

Appellant would state that prejudice resulted from the granting of the jury trial; however, this is far from the truth. The electronic filing system is accessible by all

attorneys practicing within South Carolina. As such, Appellant would have had access to view the case from the moment of service for the Summons and Complaint. As outlined within the Attorney Reference Guide in ARG-06: Initiating a Case, a “Jury Demand option” is present (R. 0031). Whereby, Appellant, upon receiving service notifying a pending lawsuit, would have had the full capability of reviewing the filings and identifying that a jury trial was demanded in the E-filing system.

Unfortunately, Appellant would contend they never received notice. The clerk of court was aware a jury trial was demanded, and Appellant had full access to that information. As noted in Appellant’s brief, “[t]he circuit court ruled that Tenant was not prejudiced by the denial of the motion to transfer, because the court found ‘the record reflects that [T]enant is not caught unaware of the pendency of this case as a jury trial.’” Either Appellant realized a jury trial had been demanded but chose to attempt this procedural technicality instead, or Appellant failed to perform due diligence by reviewing the filings. Regardless, willful blindness does not amount to prejudice in a case. Just because Appellant willfully or negligently failed to review the accessible information, does not mean that Respondent should lose his constitutional right to a jury trial. In the light best favoring Appellant, Appellant made a simple mistake which would be no different than Respondent’s mistake in providing proper service of the Jury Demand.

Wherefore, Appellant had the means to gain notice of the Jury Demand and acted with willful blindness to the information, and the lower Courts ruling should be affirmed.

### **III. Case Law Supports Respondent**

In addition to the aforementioned reasons to affirm the judgment, South Carolina case law supports such a ruling. The primary rationale is that “[a] trial court’s ruling on a party’s request for a jury trial will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.”

*Ray v. Caroline Collection, Inc.*, 2006 WL 7287883, 2 (Cir. Ct. 2006) (citing *King v. Shorter*, 291 S.C. 501-03, 354 S.E.2d 402, 403 (Ct. App. 1987)). As stated in Rule 39(b), the court has the discretion to grant a jury trial; whereby, Appellant has provided no evidence to support an abuse of discretion having occurred.

The only factor Appellant contends caused prejudice was that the court found that appellant was not caught unaware that this case was allotted a jury trial. This factor is insufficient to prove an abuse of discretion. “A party’s failure to make a timely demand for a jury trial does not mean the opposing party acquires a right to have, as a matter of law, a non-jury trial.” *Patterson v. McNeill-Patterson*, 312 S.C. 471, 472, 441 S.E.2d 328, 329 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *Hannah v. United Refrigeration Services, Inc.*, 305 S.C. 394, 394, 409 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1991)). In *Thompson v. Ashpes*, the Court noted “that the Thompsons argument of prejudice, expense, or delay is not sufficient to deny the request,” when explaining its rationale for granting an untimely demand for a Jury Trial. 2012 WL 12127218, 2 (Cir. Ct. 2012).

A jury trial is preserved in those cases in which the parties were entitled to it under the law or practice existing at the time of the constitution's adoption. *Pelfrey v. Bank of Greer*, 244 S.E.2d 315, 316 (S.C. 1978). Under the common law, legal actions for the recovery of money were triable by a jury; thus, under the South Carolina Constitution such legal actions are entitled to a jury trial today. *See, Cooper v. Poston*, 483 S.E.2d 750, 751 (S.C. 1997); *Collier v. Green*, 137 S.E.2d 277 (S.C. 1964). Jury trial waivers are a substantial right and must be strictly construed. *Beach Co. v. Twillman. Ltd.*, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002). Moreover, the right to a jury trial is a fundamental right. *Lane v. Gilbert Construction Co.*, 681 S.E.2d 879, 884 (S.C. 2009) (citations omitted). Consequently, any abridgement of that right is subject to strict scrutiny. *Id.* Initial Brief of Appellant, 2, *First National Bank of Spartanburg v. Liberty Village, LLC*, No. 2009-CP-08-3652 (Cir. Ct. 2013).

Many courts hold that a motion under Rule 39(b) should be granted in the absence of strong and compelling reasons to the contrary. 9 CHARLES A. WRIGHT & ARTHUR R.

MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 2334 at 113 (1971). Moreover, as several courts have contended, technical insistence upon imposing a penalty for failing to follow the demand procedure by denying a jury trial is not in the spirit of the rules of procedure. See, e.g. *Swofford v. B&W Incorporated*, C.A. 5th, 1964, 336 F.2d 406, *certiorari denied* 85 S. Ct. 653, 379 U.S. 962, 13 L.Ed.2d 557 (“the right to jury trial in federal court is a ‘basic and fundamental feature’ of the jurisprudence system). The factors which courts have weighed when deciding whether to grant a jury trial under Rule 39(b) include (1) whether the issues are more appropriate for determination by a judge or jury (i.e. factual versus legal, legal versus equitable, simple versus complex); (2) the timing of the motion (early or late in the proceedings); (3) any effect a jury trial would have on the court's docket and the orderly administration of justice. *Malbon v. Pennsylvania Millers Mut. Ins. Co.*, 636 F.2d 936, 940 (4th Cir. 1980) (internal citations omitted).

As the aforementioned case law clearly shows, this is a matter appropriate for a jury trial and shows that Appellant’s alleged prejudice is insufficient to defeat such facts. First, this case is of the nature traditionally granted a jury trial. Second, the issues are more appropriately determined by a jury. Third, Appellant had knowledge of a jury trial during the pleading phase of this case, and no trial has occurred as of yet. Fourth, this trial will not affect the court’s docket or the orderly administration of justice, as it is already scheduled on the docket. As stated in *Swofford*, technicalities within the demand procedure is an insufficient reason for denying a jury trial. Likewise, in *Thompson*, prejudice, expense, and delay were found to be insufficient. Wherefore, no prejudice, additional expense, or delay will occur in the present case.

Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the lower Court’s holding.